
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: September 28, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer, Alaska 
Regular City Council Meeting 

September 28, 2021, at 7:00 PM 
City Council Chambers 

231 W. Evergreen Avenue, Palmer 
www.palmerak.org 

AGENDA 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. ROLL CALL

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
1. Approval of Consent Agenda

a. Action Memorandum No. 21-053: Authorize the City Manager to Execute a 1 Year Contract
Extension with Eagle View Excavation in the Amount Not to Exceed $75.00 Per Hour for City
Snow Haul Services.

b. Action Memorandum No. 21-054: Authorize the City Manager to Execute a 1 Year Contract
Extension with White Knight Services in the Amount of $1,954.00 per Event for Snow Removal
Services for City Facilities.

c. Action Memorandum No. 21-055: Requesting the City Clerk to Conduct a Hand Count of the
Election of October 5, 2021.

2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings
a. August 24, 2021, Special Meeting
b. August 24, 2021, Regular Meeting

E. COMMUNICATIONS AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS

F. REPORTS
1. City Manager’s Report
2. Mayor’s Report
3. City Clerk’s Report
4. City Attorney’s Report

G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

H. PUBLIC HEARINGS

1. Ordinance No. 21-016: Amending the Zoning Map to Revise the Zoning Designation of Lot 7, Block
6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision, from R-4, High Density Residential to CG-General
Commercial.

I. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

J. NEW BUSINESS

Mayor Edna B. DeVries 
Deputy Mayor Sabrena Combs 
Council Member Julie Berberich 
Council Member Richard W. Best 
Council Member Steve Carrington 
Council Member Brian Daniels 
Council Member Jill Valerius 

City Attorney Michael Gatti 
City Manager John Moosey 
Interim City Clerk Nichole Degner 

...................................................................................................Page 3

........................................................................................Page 13

......................................................................................Page 23

..............................................................................Page 27

..............................................................................Page 29

...................................................................................................................Page 35

Page 1 of 69

http://www.palmerak.org/


__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: September 28, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 2 of 2 

K. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE 
 
L. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
M. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

1. Subjects That Tend to Prejudice the Reputation and Character of Any Person – Legal Review 
Regarding Violation of Open Meetings Act Law 

 
N. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
O. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

 
 

Tentative Future Palmer City Council Meetings 
 

Meeting 
Date 

Meeting 
Type Time Notes 

Oct 11 Special 6 pm Election Certification 

Oct 12 Regular 7 pm  

Oct 19 Special 6 pm Budget 

Oct 26 Special 6 pm Budget 
Oct 26 Regular 7 pm  
Nov 9 Special 6 pm Budget 
Nov 9 Regular 7 pm  

Nov 23 Special 6 pm Budget 
Nov 23 Regular 7 pm  

 

Page 2 of 69



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-053 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Action Memorandum No. 21-053 

 
Subject:  Authorize the City Manager to Execute a 1 Year Contract Extension with Eagle View Excavation 
in the Amount not to exceed $75.00 per hour for City Snow Haul Services. 
 
Agenda of: September 28, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Jude Bilafer, Director of Public Works 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    

√  Finance  

 9/10/2021 
  Fire    
  Police     

√  Public Works  

 
 9/8/2021 

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
√ Budgeted Line item(s): 01-17-40-6030 
 Not budgeted   

 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 3 of 69



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-053 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 Current Snow Hauling Services contract with Eagle View Excavation 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
Snow Hauling Services is an annual contract the City awards. The current contract was awarded to Eagle 
View Excavation in 2019 for a period of one year, with the option to extend the contract for two additional 
one-year contracts at the same per hour rate not to exceed $75.00 per hour for truck and operator. Public 
Works would like to exercise the second one-year extension to this contract. 
The Contractor will be used on an “on-call” basis primarily for snow hauling during Public Works snow 
removal events.    
Eagle View Excavation has had the contract in the past and has been very responsive to the City’s needs.  
The Public Works Maintenance Superintendent will be responsible for overseeing the contractor’s work.  
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
To approve Action Memorandum No. 21-053. 
 

Page 4 of 69



Page 5 of 69



Page 6 of 69



Page 7 of 69



Page 8 of 69



Page 9 of 69



Page 10 of 69



Page 11 of 69



P
age 12 of 69



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-054 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Action Memorandum No. 21-054 

 
Subject:  Authorize the City Manager to Execute a 1 Year Contract Extension with White Knight Services 
in the Amount of $1,954.00 per Event for Snow Removal Services for City Facilities. 
 
Agenda of: September 28, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Jude Bilafer, Director of Public Works 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    

√  Finance  

 09/10/2021 
  Fire    
  Police     

√  Public Works 
 

 
 

9/8/2021 

 
  

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
√ Budgeted Line item(s): 01-17-40-6030 
 Not budgeted   

 
 

Director of Finance Signature:  

Page 13 of 69



____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-054 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
 Current Snow Removal contract with White Knight Services 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
Snow Removal of City Facilities is an annual contract the City awards. The current contract was awarded 
to White Knight Services in 2019 for a period of one year, with the option to extend the contract for two 
additional one-year contracts at the same per event rate of $1,954.00. Public Works would like to exercise 
the second one-year extension to this contract. 
The Contractor will be used in an “on-call” basis primarily for snow removal from parking lots at City 
buildings.  
White Knight has had the contract for the past four years and has been very responsive to the City’s 
needs.  
The Maintenance Superintendent of Public Works will be responsible for overseeing the contractor’s work.  
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
To approve Action Memorandum No. 21-054. 
 

Page 14 of 69



Page 15 of 69



Page 16 of 69



Page 17 of 69



Page 18 of 69



Page 19 of 69



Page 20 of 69



Page 21 of 69



Page 22 of 69



 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-055 Page 1 of 3 

City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 21-055 

 
Subject:  Requesting the City Clerk to Conduct a Hand Count of the October 5, 2021 City Council Election 
 
Agenda of: September 28, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Edna DeVries, Mayor of Palmer 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 1,685.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
√ Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 1,685.00 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
√ Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 23 of 69



 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-055 Page 2 of 3 

Attachment(s):  
1. None 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The backbone of our democracy rests on open, and fair elections.  Numerous citizens have came before the 
Palmer City Council raising concerns about the October 5, 2021 election.   The City Council in an effort to assuage 
fears that the City of Palmer’s elections are not legitimate shall request that the City Clerk complete a hand count 
of all eligible ballots upon the completion of its existing process.   
 
18.05.025 States 

Unless otherwise provided by law, the clerk shall be responsible for the calling and supervision of all city 
elections. (Ord. 620 § 3, 2004; Ord. 546 § 5, 1999) 
 

18.35.012 States 

A. The ballots shall be counted by the ballot tabulation system selected by the clerk. 

18.35.030 States 

The clerk shall designate the ballot tabulation system to be used in the counting of the ballots or use the 
same system designated by the borough clerk. The clerk may negotiate and contract with the state or a 
private company for the needed ballot tabulation services or use the same contract as designated by the 
borough clerk. (Ord. 12-009 § 14, 2012; Ord. 620 § 10, 2004; Ord. 534 § 12, 1998; Ord. 515 § 3, 1997) 

18.40.010 States 

A candidate or 10 qualified voters may contest the election of any person or the approval or rejection of 
any question or proposition upon one or more of the following grounds: 

A. Malconduct, fraud or corruption by an election official sufficient to change the result of the 
election; 

B. The person elected is not qualified under law or ordinance; or 

C. Existence of a corrupt election practice as defined by the laws of the state of Alaska sufficient 
to change the result of the election. (Ord. 620 § 11, 2004; Ord. 515 § 3, 1997) 

18.45.010 States 

A. A defeated candidate or 10 qualified city voters may file an application with the clerk for a recount of 
the votes from any particular precinct, or for any particular office, proposition or question by filing the 
application with the clerk at any time before 5:00 p.m. on the day of the certification of the election 
results or by delivering the application for recount to the council at its meeting to certify the election 
returns. 

B. The date the clerk receives an application rather than the date of mailing or transmission determines 
whether the application is filed within the time allowed under this section. 

C. If two or more candidates tie in having the highest number of votes for the same office, to which 
only one candidate is to be elected, the clerk shall initiate a recount. (Ord. 14-009 § 3, 2014; Ord. 620 
§ 12, 2004; Ord. 515 § 3, 1997) 

18.45.020 States 

Page 24 of 69



 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-055 Page 3 of 3 

A. A recount application shall: 

1. State in substance the basis of the belief that a mistake has been made; 

2. Identify the particular precinct, office, proposition, or question for which the recount is to be 
held; 

3. State the person making the application is a candidate or that the 10 persons making the 
application are qualified city voters; 

4. List the full name and contact information of the candidate or each of the 10 qualified city 
voters; 

5. List the contact information for the two qualified voters who shall represent the candidate, 
proposition or question during the recount. 

B. The application shall include a deposit in cash, by certified check or by bond with a surety approved 
by the clerk. 

1. The deposit amount, established in the current, adopted budget, shall be paid for each 
precinct. 

2. If less than all precincts are requested for recount, early voter, absentee by mail, and 
questioned ballots shall be considered one combined precinct for the purposes of the recount. 

3. If all precincts are included in the request, there shall be no additional charge for the recount 
of early voter, absentee by mail, and questioned ballots. (Ord. 18-003 § 10, 2018; Ord. 14-009 
§ 3, 2014; Ord. 07-029 § 35, 2007; Ord. 620 § 12, 2004; Ord. 515 § 3, 1997) 

 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 25 of 69



Page 26 of 69



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   August 24, 2021, Special Meeting                                                                                                   Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Minutes 

Special Meeting 
August 24, 2021 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
A Special meeting of the Palmer City Council was held on August 24, 2021, at 6:00 p.m. in Council 
Chambers, Palmer, Alaska.  Mayor DeVries called the meeting to order at 6:05 p.m.  
 
B. ROLL CALL 
 
Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following were present: 

Edna DeVries, Mayor Sabrena Combs, Deputy Mayor 
 Julie Berberich (video conference)  Brian Daniels (video conference) 
 Richard W. Best (arrival at 6:10 p.m.)  Jill Valerius (video conference) 
 Steve Carrington 
 
Also in attendance were the following: 
         John Moosey, City Manager    Michael Gatti, City Attorney 
         Nichole Degner, Interim City Clerk  Kimberly Green, Human Resources 
         Pam Whitehead, Recording Secretary (telephonically) 
 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was performed. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
     Main Motion: To Approve Agenda as presented. 
          Moved by: Combs 
     Seconded by: Berberich 
                 Vote: Unanimous 
               Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 
 
E. NEW BUSINESS:   

 
1. City Clerk Candidate Meet and Greet – 5:00 p.m. 

 
The City Council had an informal meet and greet with City Clerk Candidate Glenda Worsham. 

 
2. City Clerk Candidate Interview  
a. Glenda Worsham – 6:00 p.m. 

 
Ms. Worsham narrated a slide presentation on Roberts Rules of Order and what it means for municipalities, 
followed by Council member questions. 
 
Mayor DeVries, on behalf of the Council, conducted the interview with an agreed upon series of questions 
along with Council member follow-up questions. 
 
F. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE: 

1) City Clerk Interview Packet. 

Page 27 of 69



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   August 24, 2021, Special Meeting                                                                                                   Page 2 of 2 

 
G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
Mayor DeVries opened Audience Participation. 
 
Mr. Mike Chmielewski shared his experiences over the last few days broadcasting live at the Alaska State 
Fair. 
 
There being no others coming forward, Mayor DeVries closed Audience Participation at 6:51 p.m. 
 
H. COUNCIL COMMENTS: 
 
Council member Berberich thanked Ms. Worsham and spoke in appreciation of her coming to Alaska for 
a second interview and hopes she enjoys the rest of her trip. 
 
Council member Valerius also thanked Ms. Worsham for traveling here and appreciated her presentation. 
 
I. ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business before the City Council, the special meeting adjourned at 6:52 p.m. 
 
APPROVED this 28th day of September, 2021. 
 
 
       ________________________________________ 
       Nichole Degner, Interim City Clerk 
 
______________________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 
 

Page 28 of 69



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   August 28, 2021, Regular Meeting                                                                                                    Page 1 of 6 

 City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Minutes 

Regular Meeting 
August 24, 2021 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
A regular meeting of the Palmer City Council was held on August 24, 2021, at 7:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chambers, Palmer, Alaska.  Mayor DeVries called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  
 
B. ROLL CALL 
 
Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following were present: 

Edna DeVries, Mayor Sabrena Combs, Deputy Mayor 
 Julie Berberich (video conference)  Brian Daniels (video conference) 
 Richard W. Best   Jill Valerius (video conference) 
 Steve Carrington 
 
Also in attendance were the following: 
         John Moosey, City Manager    Michael Gatti, City Attorney 
         Nichole Degner, Interim City Clerk  Kimberly Green, Human Resources 
         Gena Davis,   
         Pam Whitehead, Recording Secretary (telephonically) 
 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
The Pledge of Allegiance was performed. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

1. Approval of Consent Agenda 
a. Resolution No. 21-029 AEPS Phase ## FAA Grant R1 
b. Resolution No. 21-031 TW November FAA Grant 
c. Action Memorandum No. 21-048 Professional Legal Services 2021 
d. Action Memorandum No. 21-049 Country Garden Farms LLC 
e. Action Memorandum No. 21-050 HDL Contract Amendment TW N Design Project 
f. Action Memorandum No. 21-051 HDL Contract Amendment AEPS Phase II R1 

 
2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings 

a. July 27, 2021, Special Meeting 
b. July 27, 2021, Regular Meeting 

 
Main Motion: To Approve Agenda, Consent Agenda, and Minutes 
Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Carrington 
Vote: Unanimous  
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 
 
E. COMMUNICATION AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS: None. 
 
F. REPORTS 
 
1. City Manager’s Report 
 

Page 29 of 69



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   August 28, 2021, Regular Meeting                                                                                                    Page 2 of 6 

City Manager Moosey: 
• reported briefly regarding agenda item 2020 Financial Audit, commending Gina Davis and her staff 

on a job extremely well done; 
• reported new City personnel:  Jude Bilafer, Public Works Director; Jackie Andrus, Public Works 

Administrative Assistant; Jeannette Sinn, promoted to Deputy City Clerk; Cotton Gore, Community 
Development Recreational Operations Supervisor; and Kristin Elieff, Administrative Assistant to City 
Manager; 

• advised of the need for a new city vehicle for winter plowing; following further discussion and 
clarification, City Manager Moosey will have an Action Memorandum on the agenda for the next 
meeting. 

• Responded to Council Member questions. 
 
2. Mayor’s Report 
Mayor DeVries: 
• encouraged everyone to attend the Alaska State Fair; commended Deputy Mayor Combs for the 

great Parade last Saturday. 
 
3. City Clerk’s Report: 
City Manager Moosey: 
• Reported regarding the election equipment testing and election security; 
• Spoke to the City of Palmer’s purchase of five new voting machines which match the State and 

Borough voting equipment made by the Dominion Corporation; outlined the election process. 
 
4. City Attorney’s Report: 
City Attorney Gatti: 
• Spoke to options to consider on securing the purchase of a new snow plow truck. 
 
G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION: 
 
Mayor DeVries opened Audience Participation at 7:20 p.m. 
 
Ms. Lilahlee Borland, city resident, testified raising major concerns regarding the Dominion voting 
machines. 
 
Mr. Mike Coons spoke to being attacked by members of Moms for Social Justice for voicing their 
concerns at City Council meetings.  He contributes to Palmer’s economy and even though he lives 
outside city limits, has a right to be an advocate for conservative voices.  Noted for the council members 
that don’t listen because he is not a resident, shows good reason why they should be replaced.  He will 
continue to speak up on issues that he feels a need to voice his opinions and will call on others to do so 
as well.  (Mr. Coons submitted his written comments in full to the City Council) 
 
Ms. Cindy Hutchins, testified raising major concerns over the Dominion voting machines and election 
integrity. 
 
Ms. Jackie Ivey GoForth, testified about the Democrats in power not caring about the people, only power 
over the people; spoke to what’s happening in Afghanistan and the humanitarian crisis for which they 
don’t seem to care. 
 
There being no others coming forward, Mayor DeVries closed Audience Participation at 7:34 p.m. 
 
H. PUBLIC HEARINGS:  None. 
 

Page 30 of 69



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   August 28, 2021, Regular Meeting                                                                                                    Page 3 of 6 

I.  UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  None. 
 
J.  NEW BUSINESS:  
 
1. Committee of the Whole:  Presentation of the 2020 Financial Audit (note: action may be taken by the 

Council following the committee of the whole) 
 
Main Motion: To enter into Committee of the Whole. 
Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Carrington 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 

[The Council entered Committee of the Whole at 7:30 p.m.; exited at 7:57 p.m.] 
 
Presentation: 
Joy Mariner, serving as the Audit Partner on the City financial statements and audit of the City award 
programs (CARES Act), presented the overall results of the 2020 Financial Audit.  They are an independent 
auditing firm hired by the City to perform an independent audit.  They found no problems and commended 
the Finance team for a phenomenal job; also commended the City Council for being careful and adhering to 
the rules about how they approved the use of the CARES money.  She then went on to explain the 
Financial Statement Audit Opinion in more detail. 
 
There being no questions, Mayor DeVries thanked Ms. Mariner on behalf of the City Council for the very 
thorough job. 
 
The Council exited Committee of the Whole at 7:57 p.m. and reconvened the Regular Meeting. 
 
Main Motion: To accept the 2020 Audit Report as presented. 
Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Best 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 
 
2. Resolution No. 21-030, Changes to Fee Schedule MTA Events Center. 
 
City Manager Moosey provided a staff report related to Resolution No. 21-030 and requested approval as 
presented. 
 
Main Motion: For approval of Resolution No. 21-030 as presented. 
Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Daniels 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 
 
3. Resolution No. 21-032, Appropriating CSLFRFA ARPA Funds. 
 
Main Motion: For approval of Resolution No. 21-032. 
Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Valerius 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 

Page 31 of 69



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   August 28, 2021, Regular Meeting                                                                                                    Page 4 of 6 

 
K. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE: 
Ms. Degner reported the following items placed on the table:  1) 2020 Audit Book.  
 
L. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION: 
 
Mr. Mike Coons, spoke to election integrity, encouraging absentee ballots are well-tracked using 
signature verification and making sure everything is verified before separating the envelope from the 
ballot. 
 
Ms. Jackie GoForth testified regarding election integrity raising strong concerns regarding the Dominion 
voting machines, noting they can be entered into through the internet by anyone who has the password.  
She also testified concerning her research that Covid deaths are being reported at a higher number than 
they actually are. 
 
Ms. Cindy Hudgins, testified that she heard FEMA is offering money ($8,000) to individuals to pay for the 
funerals of family members who have died from Covid.  She also testified further in opposition to the 
Dominion voting machines, noting she has no faith in the upcoming city election if these machines are 
used. 
 
Mr. Mike Chmielewski shared conversations at the Alaska State Fair with Governor Dunleavy, 
Commissioner Adam Crum, and Football Player Mark Schlereth, all saying that vaccinations are the best 
defense against the Delta variant of the virus; recommended if you have questions about the vaccine to 
speak to people who are knowledgeable – AHSS booth at the Fair is offering vaccinations, but it’s also a 
place to ask questions and address concerns. 
 
Mr. Jason Boreland testified in opposition to the Covid vaccine because of the amount of misinformation, 
noting that the FDA (see website) has now deleted from the VECDER what is to be expected from these 
“vaccines;” spoke as someone with massive OSHA training, mask wearing will do nothing to stop the 
virus and suffocating are children in school in order to save them feels very wrong; encouraged the 
Council and our City to do everything in their power to stand against this. 
 
Ms. Lilahlee Boreland testified concerning her and her family’s personal experience with Latent TB and 
the lack of response from public health officials to her calls fearing a Covid co-pandemic; noted the CDC 
website recently stated for 2020 they are basically positive that TB went underdiagnosed, not diagnosed, 
and mistreated because of Covid.  The problem is being fed all this information that fits one narrative 
and when there’s a problem, no public health officials are addressing it or calling back. 
 
Mr. Erik Anderson, spoke to Action Memorandum 21-041, noting he bids contracts for a living, and when 
he looked through the Contract for the Clarifiers, there are a number of things that he questions as a 
citizen, one being why are there a $2.5 Million difference on the same part for the project?  He 
encouraged the Council to read and ask questions before saying yes because sometimes yes doesn’t 
make sense. 
 
Ms. Lee Henrikson spoke to regarding the Cedar Park Developers being upset about the Subdivision 
Agreement that was presented to them and gave a deadline to have it fixed; she inquired about the 
status of that Subdivision Agreement. 
 
There being no others coming forward, Mayor DeVries closed Audience Participation at 8:28 p.m. 
 
 
 

Page 32 of 69



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   August 28, 2021, Regular Meeting                                                                                                    Page 5 of 6 

Main Motion: To enter Executive Session for subjects that tend to prejudice the 
reputation and character of any person for City Clerk Recruitment. 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Best 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 
 
Mayor DeVries called a break at 8:30 p.m. to clear the room for Executive Session. 
 
M. EXECUTIVE SESSION: [Not Recorded] 
 
1. Subjects That Tend to Prejudice the Reputation and Character of Any Person - City Clerk Recruitment 

(Note: All city clerk candidates may be discussed during the executive session. Personnel action 
regarding the City Clerk Candidates may be taken following the executive session) 

 
[The City Council entered Executive Session at 8:40 p.m.; exited at 9:35 p.m.] 

 
The Regular Meeting resumed at 9:40 p.m. 
 
Main Motion: To Direct HR to repost the City Clerk position and ask the City Manager to 

bring forward the Ordinance for the Residence Requirements for the City 
Clerk for consideration. 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Berberich 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 
 
Deputy Mayor Combs clarified that in the job posting to remove the resident requirement from the 
posting with possibly a caveat note that the Council is considering changes to that requirement. 
 
Main Motion: To direct the City Attorney to move forward on reviewing the 

requirements of the position for the 2nd candidate and whether or not 
those requirements are met. 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Carrington 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 
 
N. COUNCIL COMMENTS: 
 
Council Member Valerius thanked Gina and the Finance Department for doing an outstanding job on 
the Audit Report. 
 
Council Member Daniels spoke in appreciation of all the City Staff for the good work they do; also 
extended thank you to City Clerk Candidate Glenda Worsham for coming. 
 
Council Member Berberich reiterated what has been said about Gina and her staff for their as-always 
excellent work on the Audit; makes her proud to work with the City and the excellent Financial staff.  
Also, congratulations to all the new employees in the City.  Shared meeting a gentleman from Ohio while 
walking her dog in the Matanuska River Park who raved about our Alaska State Fair, noting he’s been to 
a lot of state fairs, but never one as great as this. 
 

Page 33 of 69



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   August 28, 2021, Regular Meeting                                                                                                    Page 6 of 6 

Deputy Mayor Combs thanked Mayor DeVries for attending the Alaska State Fair Parade on the 
grandstand, noting it was a short parade but also a good parade, not to mention the weather was great!  
She loves the State Fair and spoke to all the new things at the Fair with a lot of new vendors.  Extended 
welcome to all the new employees. 
 
Council Member Carrington also thanked Gina and her staff for the hard work, that to have an audit 
with no findings in a year of Covid/CARES money is very impressive. 
 
Council Member Best asked for Council support with regard to AML Award Nominations for Audits to 
put the City of Palmer’s Finance Department and Director up for any awards upcoming in this next cycle.  
Deputy Mayor Combs spoke in support, noting it would be for the November Conference. 
 
Council Member Best spoke to the allegation at the last meeting made by the public that the City 
Council had breached the Open Meetings Act with members participating in a closed Facebook Group.  
He asked for Council support to direct the City Manager to hire and investigator to review and bring back 
a report to City Council as to any findings pertaining to that allegation. 
Council Member Carrington spoke in support. 
 
Mayor DeVries asked City Manager Moosey to prepare a Certificate of Appreciation for Gina Davis. 
 
O. ADJOURNMENT: 
 
With no further business before the City Council, the meeting adjourned at 9:50 p.m. 
 
APPROVED this 28th day of September, 2021. 
 
              
        ____________________________________ 
        Nichole Degner, Interim City Clerk 
 
______________________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 
 

Page 34 of 69



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-016 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 21-016 

 
Subject:  Amending the Zoning Map to Revise the Zoning Designation of Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 
Subdivision, from R-4, High Density Residential to CG-General Commercial. 
 
Agenda of: September 14, 2021 - Introduction 
 
Council Action: ☐ Adopted  ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Brad Hanson, Community Development Director  
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
√ Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 
  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 35 of 69



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-016 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
 

1. Ordinance No. 21-016 
2. Planning and Zoning Commission Resolution No. 21-005 with Findings of Facts 
3. Planning and Zoning Commission Minutes for August 19, 2021 (Draft Copy) 
4. Staff Report 
5. Public Notice and Vicinity Map for Council Public Hearing of August 19, 2021 
6. Zoning Map Amendment Application 
7. Public Comments Received for City Council Public Hearing  

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
On August 19, 2021, Palmer Food Bank initiated a zoning map amendment to re-zone Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-
Newcomb #2 Subdivision, from R-4 to CG-General Commercial.  The property is a corner lot and is located on 
East Arctic Avenue and has access from South Denali Street.  The plat was recorded in 1954, after the existing 
house was built on the property in 1950.  The property was initially zoned R-1, followed by a rezone to R-2 in 
1983.  In 2005 when the city added two multi-family zoning districts to Palmer Municipal Code the property was 
rezoned to from R-2 to R-4.   
 
During the required Public Hearing on August 19, 2021, the Planning & Zoning Commission (Commission) 
unanimously voted to approve the zoning map amendment to rezone Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 
Subdivision, from R-4 to CG-General Commercial.  The Commission found the proposed change is in accordance 
with the City Comprehensive Plan and forwarded recommendation to approve the zoning map amendment as 
submitted by the petitioner.   
 
The applicants are requesting a zone change to expand the facility for more space for storage as well as to better 
serve the community.  This rezone will create more flexibility as well as new opportunities to be considered for 
the Palmer Food Bank by allowing a more compatible use of land and uniformity of district zoning. 
 
If rezoned to CG-General Commercial, this parcel will be compatible with surrounding zoning districts and would 
allow the space to expand the Palmer Food Bank.   
 
Ordinance No. 21-016 will re-zone Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision, from R-4, High Density 
Residential to CG-General Commercial and create compatible land zoning for this permitted use.  
 
  Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 21-016 to amend the Zoning Map to revise the designation of Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-
Newcomb #2 Subdivision, from R-4, High Density Residential to CG-General Commercial. 
 
 
 

Page 36 of 69



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-016 Page 1 of 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance No. 21-016 
 
An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Enacting the Zoning Map to Revise the Zoning 
Designation of Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision, from R-4, High Density 
Residential to CG-General Commercial. 
 

WHEREAS, On August 19, 2021, Palmer Food Bank initiated a zoning map amendment to re-zone Lot 7, 
Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision, from R-4 High Density Residential to CG-General Commercial; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Commission duly gave required notices, held its required public hearing on August 19, 

2021, made a written report of its decision as to such need, justification and effect of the change of zoning in 
Commission Resolution 21-005, and voted 3 in favor, 3 have no objection and 1 opposed to recommend that 
such amendment to the zoning map be approved; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission (Commission) adopted findings of fact in Resolution  

No. 21-005 as to the need, justification and effect to the zoning map amendment on August 19, 2021; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council duly gave required notices, held its required public hearing on this date, and 

has duly considered the request to re-zone the property from R-4, High Density Residential to CG-General 
Commercial, all evidence and testimony presented including any comments of the persons attending the public 
hearing, the findings of fact set forth in Planning and Zoning Commission Resolution No. 21-005, and the 
recommendation of the Commission. 

 
THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, ORDAINS: 
 
 Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be incorporated into the 
Palmer Municipal Code.  
 
 Section 2. Severability. If any provisions of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances are held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to the other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 
 
 Section 3. The City of Palmer Zoning Districts Map dated December 2017 is hereby amended to revise 
the zoning designation of Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision, from R-4 High Density Residential 
to CG-General Commercial. 

 
Section 4. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 21-016 shall take effect upon adoption by the city of Palmer 

City Council.  
 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: Manager Moosey 

Date: September 14, 2021 
Public Hearing: September 28, 2021 

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 37 of 69



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-016 Page 2 of 2 

 
 
Passed and approved this _____ day of _____, 2021.  
 
 

 
_________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Nichole Degner, Interim City Clerk 

Page 38 of 69



Page 39 of 69



Page 40 of 69



                                                                                                                                                  
Planning & Zoning Commission                                                                                 August 19, 2021 
                                                                                                                                    Page 1 of 6 

 PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA    

REGULAR MEETING 
 THURSDAY, AUGUST 19, 2021 
 7:00 P.M. - COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER: 
The regular meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission was called to order by Vice Chair Tudor at 
7:00 p.m.   
 
B. ROLL CALL: 
Constituting a quorum, present in person were Commissioners: 

Josh Tudor, Vice Chair 
 Linda Combs 
 Lisbeth Jackson 
 Pamela Melin 
 Sabrina Shelton 
Absence(s) excused without objection: 

Casey Peterson, Chair 
 Kristy Thom Bernier 
Also present were: 

Brad Hanson, Community Development Director 
Nichole Degner, Community Development Specialist 
Pam Whitehead, Recording Secretary (via teleconference) 

 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  The Pledge was performed. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
The agenda was approved as presented by roll call vote of all members present.  
[Shelton, Melin, Jackson, Combs, Tudor; Absent: Peterson, Thom Bernier] 
 
E. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS: 
 
1. The minutes of the July 15, 2021 Regular Meeting were unanimously approved as amended by 

roll call vote of all members present, correcting under Commissioner Comments that it was 
Commissioner Jackson, not Melin, regarding invite to the Valley Community Recycling Center. 
[Shelton, Melin, Jackson, Combs, Tudor; Absent: Peterson, Thom Bernier] 

 
F. REPORTS:   
 
Director Hanson reported: 
• They are working on the Annual Conditional Use Permit review for the October meeting; 
• Extended thank you to Pam for taking on the City Council meetings and minutes in addition to the 

City boards and commissions in the interim until the City Clerk position is filled. 
 
G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION:  None. 
 
H. PUBLIC HEARINGS:  

Page 41 of 69



                                                                                                                                                  
Planning & Zoning Commission                                                                                 August 19, 2021 
                                                                                                                                    Page 2 of 6 

 
1. Resolution No 21-005:  A Resolution of the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission 

Recommending City Council Approve a Zoning Map Amendment for Lot 7 Block 6, Snodgrass-
Newcomb #2 Subdivision to be Rezoned from R-4, High Density Residential to CG-General 
Commercial, Located within Section 33, Township 18 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian, Alaska. 

 
Vice Chair Tudor inquired of the Commission as to any ex parte contacts.  None were disclosed. 
 
Staff Report:  Director Hanson reported general and background information on the requested rezone, 
including site information, parcel size, existing zoning, surrounding land uses, particular considerations, 
code requirements, and findings of fact.  Public notice and publishing requirements pursuant to code 
have been met.  A total of 6 comments were received in response, with 2 in favor, 1 opposed, and 3 no 
objection.  Two comments were received on the table.  The Applicant is Palmer Food Bank.  They wish 
to convert this residential facility to a food bank.  
 
Findings of Fact:  Pursuant to PMC 17.80.036.C, the Report of the Commission shall give consideration 
as to what effect the proposed change would have on public health, safety, welfare and convenience, 
and for a map amendment show whether: 
  
Fact 1:  The proposed change is in accordance with the borough and city comprehensive plans. 
 
Staff finds the following support in the Palmer Comprehensive Plan:  
a) Goal 1 of Chapter 6, Land Use, of the Palmer Comprehensive Plan, under Objective A recommends 

guiding growth and development patterns by providing adequate space for expansion of commercial uses 
along the Glenn Highway.  The subject property is located on Arctic Avenue, which becomes the Old 
Glenn Hwy.   
 

b) Goal 4 of Chapter 6 from the Comprehensive Plan encourages new commercial developments so residents 
of Palmer, residents of surrounding areas, and visitors can find the goods and services they need in 
Palmer.  Objective B notes the importance of encouraging high quality, larger scale commercial uses 
along the Palmer-Wasilla Highway, and several other local highways.   

 
c) Chapter 7, Objective A of Goal 3 also mentions the need to provide space for commercial expansion; set 

high standards to ensure quality development.  Objective A also notes that commercial growth is essential 
to Palmer’s quality of life and economic health.      
 

d) The proposed change would support the objectives and goals of the City’s Comprehensive Plan by 
encouraging commercial development, expansion and commercial use along W. Arctic Avenue (the old 
Glenn Highway) which is a major transportation link in Palmer road system.  

 
Fact 2:  The proposed change is compatible with surrounding zoning districts and the established land 
use pattern. 
 
Staff finds: 
a) The property for the proposed rezone is contiguous to CG zoning to the North, as well as on the West 

side of the lot.  The East and South sides of the property are zoned R-4 Residential. 
b) Among other commercial land use in the subject area are other small businesses such as a retail and gift 

shop, hair salon, food trucks and a kombucha brewery, as well as a church across the street located on E 
Arctic Avenue.    

Page 42 of 69



                                                                                                                                                  
Planning & Zoning Commission                                                                                 August 19, 2021 
                                                                                                                                    Page 3 of 6 

c) If rezoned to CG-General Commercial, this parcel would continue to be compatible with surrounding 
zoning districts and would allow the space to expand the Palmer Food Bank.  

 
Fact 3:  Public facilities such as schools, utilities and streets are adequate to support the proposed 
change. 
 
Staff finds: 
a) This property is adjacent to two main roads, East Arctic Avenue and South Denali Street, and would be 

adequate to meet any increased traffic demand in the area.  Public facilities such as schools and utilities 
would have little to no impact to the potential rezone and are able to support the proposed change since 
there are several other compatible General Commercial uses in the surrounding area.   

 
Fact 4:  Changed conditions affecting the subject parcel or the surrounding neighborhood support the 
proposed change. 
 
Staff finds: 
a) The proposed rezone request would match the zoning of the surrounding area of this property.  Direct 

access onto S. Denali St from E. Arctic Avenue supports the flow of traffic onto the parcel and would be 
compatible with the surrounding commercially zoned properties in the area.    

 
Fact 5:  The proposed change is consistent with the public welfare and does not grant a special 
privilege to the owner(s). 
 
Staff finds: 
a) The proposed change does not grant the owner any special privilege as the property in question is 

contiguous to existing residential zoning and commercial development.   
 

b) The proposed change is consistent with the public welfare by permitting the future use of this property to 
be developed for commercial activity for the benefit of Palmer residents and visitors.   

 
Staff Recommendation: (Resolution 21-005) 
 
Based on the information provided by the applicant and comments received from the public, staff 
recommends approval of the requested rezone.  Staff also finds the request to rezone Lot 7, Block 6, 
Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision from R-4, High Density Residential to CG-General Commercial, is 
consistent with, and in conformance with the Palmer Comprehensive Plan. 
 
If following the Public Hearing, the Commission finds that the applicant’s proposal conforms to the Palmer 
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Code provisions, then staff recommends that the Commission approve this 
request for rezoning Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision from R-4, High Density Residential to 
CG-General Commercial and forward a recommendation for approval to the City Council. 
 
Public Hearing: (Resolution 21-005) 
Vice Chair Tudor opened the public hearing at 7:10 p.m. 
 
Applicant’s Presentation: 
Tom Sojka, representing the Palmer Food Bank and Jeanne Borega, Palmer Food Bank Director: 
• Testified in support of the rezoning request noting the Food Bank was so happy to find the requested 

location in the core area of Palmer. 
• Spoke to the location, explaining that many the Food Bank clients are in this area and many of them 

Page 43 of 69



                                                                                                                                                  
Planning & Zoning Commission                                                                                 August 19, 2021 
                                                                                                                                    Page 4 of 6 

walk, so this is definitely the best location and the Food Bank definitely needs a bigger area that 
would include ample parking along with easier access in and out. 

• Responded to Commissioner questions, regarding primary access.  The primary entry into the food 
bank will be Denali, but they will also have access out onto Arctic. 

 
Written testimony was received and read into the record by Ms. Degner, from: 
 
Anna Hanson, Palmer resident, in support of the requested rezone. 
 
Detlef Wanke, Palmer resident, in support of the requested rezone. 
 
There being no others to testify, Vice Chair Tudor closed the public hearing and brought the matter back 
before the Commission: 
 
The Commission reviewed and unanimously approved Findings of Fact 1-5 as proposed by staff in 
support of Resolution 21-005 by roll call vote of Commissioners present. 
[Shelton, Melin, Jackson, Combs, Tudor; Absent: Peterson, Thom Bernier] 
 
Vice Chair Tudor called for the Motion: 

Main Motion: For approval of Resolution No. 21-005, recommending City Council 
approve a Zoning Map Amendment for Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-
Newcomb #2 Subdivision to be Rezoned from R-4, High Density 
Residential to CG-General Commercial, located with Section 33, 
Township 18 North, Range 2 East, Seward Meridian, Alaska, to include 
adoption of Findings of Fact 1-5 as recommended by staff in support of 
Resolution 21-005 and as reviewed by the Commission. 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Jackson 

Vote: Unanimous (Absent:  Peterson, Thom Bernier)   
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 

 
I. UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  
 
1. Committee of the Whole:  Discussion of IM 21-016 regarding Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 17.59 T 

Transitional District (note: action may be taken by the Commission following committee of the 
whole). 

 
Main Motion: To enter Committee of the Whole for open and ease of discussion 

regarding IM 21-016. 
Moved by: Jackson 

Seconded by: Shelton 
Vote: Unanimous (Absent: Peterson, Thom Bernier) 

Action: Motion Carried.   
 [The Commission entered Committee of the Whole at 7:25 p.m.; exited at 8:05] 
 
Director Hanson updated the Commission from previous meetings regarding the T Transitional District, 
highlighting written report in the packet (p. 33).  A draft Ordinance (Chapter 17.59 T Transitional 
District) has been prepared for the Commission’s review incorporating the changes discussed to date 
(see packet p. 35-38). 

Page 44 of 69



                                                                                                                                                  
Planning & Zoning Commission                                                                                 August 19, 2021 
                                                                                                                                    Page 5 of 6 

 
Committee of the Whole, discussion included: 
• At-length Commission review of the draft Ordinance and open discussion for revisions and the 

process for implementation of the T District, concentrating on the yellow-highlighted sections; 
• Director Hanson responded to questions and emphasized that before any zoning district is approved, 

following annexation, there will be a series of public hearings on land use for the people to come in 
and testify. 

• Debate occurred regarding 17.59.080 D to become C.  Director Hanson will rework the language on 
all of the suggested changes and bring back for approval at the next meeting. 

 
[The Commission exited Committee of the Whole at 8:05 p.m.] 
 

Main Motion: To amend the sections of the T Transitional Zone as discussed in 
Committee of the Whole and direct the Community Development Director 
to do so. 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Melin 

Vote: Unanimous (Absent: Peterson, Thom Bernier) 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote.   

 
J. NEW BUSINESS:  None. 
 
K. PLAT REVIEWS:   
 
1. IM 21-020: Pre-application plat request to create two lots from Tax Parcel A28 (Parcel #2, MSB 

Waiver 2001-70-PWm) to be known as Lucas Acres. 
 
Director Hanson reported the plat request has been distributed to city department heads, who had no 
changes; responded to Commissioner questions. 
 
The Commission reviewed and had no additional comments. 
 
2. IM 21-022:  Pre-application routing slip to create two lots from Tract A-1, ASLS 96-004, Plat No. 

99-62. 
 
Director Hanson, Community Development, commented that the one lot stretches from Denali to Valley 
Way; the petitioner is requesting to divide the lot into two.  The lot is zoned Industrial with Special 
Limitations for a brewery and accessory uses.  The new lot will require a different zoning designation 
which has been communicated to the petitioner. 
 
The pre-application package has been distributed to city department heads:  Comments from Public 
Works:  Will need to obtain a suitable driveway permit, and the new lot will have to have public utilities 
installed. 
 
Commissioner Combs commented that the development of this area has been and continues to be an 
important part of development, particularly for business in Palmer, and this seems to fit right in with the 
school of thought that’s been around for quite a while.  She has no objection because it has obviously 
been well thought out.  
 

Page 45 of 69



                                                                                                                                                  
Planning & Zoning Commission                                                                                 August 19, 2021 
                                                                                                                                    Page 6 of 6 

There were no additional Commissioner comments.  
 
L. PUBLIC COMMENTS:  None.  
 
M. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS: 
 
Commissioner Combs: 
• Updated regarding the Senior Center, that with the up-tic in the Covid variant, has decided to go 

back to requiring a mask, noting however that no one is policing but caution is recommended. 
• Encouraged everyone to come to the State Fair Parade this coming Saturday. 
 
Commissioner Melin: 
• Shared that she works for Providence and commented that compassion fatigue has really set in and 

to be aware that we are in a crisis right now with available caregivers because of the many political 
aspects injected into the overall public/private health crisis; commented that if anyone knows of 
anyone looking for work, many of the hospitals and nursing homes are looking and are short-staffed; 
fatigue is definitely setting in and we don’t need this to happen in our healthcare system. 

 
N. ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned without objection at 8:25 p.m. 
 
APPROVED by the Planning and Zoning Commission this ____ day of _________, 2021. 
 
 
       _________________________________________ 
       Josh Tudor, Vice Chair 
 
_______________________________________ 
Brad Hanson, Community Development Director 
 

Page 46 of 69



          
 

 

 

 

 

PART I. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
 

Location: Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision  
 

Site Address: 404 E Arctic Avenue, Palmer Alaska 99645 
 

Request: To re-zone the Lot from R-4, High Density Residential to CG-General Commercial 
District to relocate the Palmer Food Bank from S. Valley Way to 404 E Arctic Avenue 
 

Applicant(s) & 
Owner: 

Palmer Food Bank  
 

Public Hearing Date: August 19, 2021 
 

Notification Requirements: In accordance with 17.80.030 

 
On August 2, 2021, 157 public hearing notices were mailed to property owners within 1,200’ of the site.  
Notification of the public hearing was published in the Frontiersman on August 13th, 2021.  A total of 6 
written comments were received in response, with 2 in favor of, 1 opposed and 3 with no objection.   
 

 
 

PART II. BACKGROUND 
 
Site Information:  
 
Lot 7, Block 6, is a corner lot and is located on East Arctic Avenue and has access from South Denali 
Street.  The Lot is located between E. Arctic Avenue, and Lot 6, which is zoned R-4, High Density 
Residential.   
 
The plat was recorded in 1954, after the existing house was built on the property in 1950.  The 
property was initially zoned R-1, followed by a rezone to R-2 in 1983.  In 2005 when the city added 
two multi-family zoning districts to Palmer Municipal Code the property was rezoned to from R-2 to 
R-4.   
 
Parcel Size:  
 
Lot size is 0.76 acres, 33,105 square feet.  
 
Existing Zoning:  
 
R-4, High Density Residential, occupied as a single family house. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                  Community Development 
                   Zone Change Application 
                 Staff Report to Commission  
 

Page 47 of 69



Surrounding Land Uses:   
  

 Zoning Land use for surrounding areas 

North CG General Commercial, church 

East  R-4 Vacant lots, Single family 

South R-4 Multi-family 

West CG Small businesses, retail, dining  

 

 
 
 
Considerations: 
 
The intent of the R-4, High Density Residential District is for residential areas with a combination of 
multiple-family structures and single-family residences with a high population density which permits 
some nonresidential uses that are compatible with the residential character of the district.  The intent 
of the CG-General Commercial District is to allow the principal use of land for commercial 
enterprises to provide for commercial enterprises which serve the needs of a large population and a 
large land area, and to provide a centralization of service by allowing heavier uses.  The applicant’s 
intention is to relocate the Palmer Food Bank and expand the facility to incorporate more space for 
services, storage, and parking to serve the growing community of Palmer.   
 
Code Requirements: 
 
In the CG-General Commercial District, the required minimum lot width is 60 feet and the required 
minimum lot area is 7,200 square feet.  The lot in question is 208 feet wide and is 33,105 sq ft. 
  

PART III.  FINDINGS OF FACT 
Page 48 of 69



 
(PMC 17.80.036.C) The report of the Commission shall give consideration as to what effect the 
proposed change would have on public health, safety, welfare and convenience, and for a map 
amendment show whether: 
 

Fact 1) The proposed change is in accordance with the borough and city comprehensive 
plans; 

 
Applicant’s response: 

It is to our understanding.   

 
Staff finding the following support in the Palmer Comprehensive Plan:  
 
a) Goal 1 of Chapter 6, Land Use, of the Palmer Comprehensive Plan, under Objective A 

recommends guiding growth and development patterns by providing adequate space for 
expansion of commercial uses along the Glenn Highway.  The subject property is located on 
Arctic Avenue, which becomes the Old Glenn Hwy.   
 

b) Goal 4 of Chapter 6 from the Comprehensive Plan encourages new commercial developments so 
residents of Palmer, residents of surrounding areas, and visitors can find the goods and services 
they need in Palmer.  Objective B notes the importance of encouraging high quality, larger scale 
commercial uses along the Palmer-Wasilla Highway, and several other local highways.   

 
c) Chapter 7, Objective A of Goal 3 also mentions the need to provide space for commercial 

expansion; set high standards to ensure quality development.  Objective A also notes that 
commercial growth is essential to Palmer’s quality of life and economic health.      
 

d) The proposed change would support the objectives and goals of the City’s Comprehensive Plan 
by encouraging commercial development, expansion and commercial use along W. Arctic Avenue 
(the old Glenn Highway) which is a major transportation link in Palmer road system.  

 

Fact 2) The proposed change is compatible with surrounding zoning districts and the 
established land use pattern; 

 
Applicant’s response: 

The surrounding zoning and established land use is both R-4 Residential and CG Commercial use.  

 
Staff finding: 
 

a) The property for the proposed rezone is contiguous to CG zoning to the North, as well as on 
the West side of the lot.  The East and South sides of the property are zoned R-4 
Residential. 

 
b) Among other commercial land use in the subject area are other small businesses such as a 

retail and gift shop, hair salon, food trucks and a kombucha brewery, as well as a church 
across the street located on E Arctic Avenue.    
 

c) If rezoned to CG-General Commercial, this parcel would continue to be compatible with 
surrounding zoning districts and would allow the space to expand the Palmer Food Bank.  
 

Fact 3) Public facilities such as schools, utilities and streets are adequate to support the 
proposed change; 

 
Applicant’s response:  

Yes, there is ample room within this proposed area for public facilities and additional CG commercial 

use.  Arctic Avenue is one of our main business avenues in down town Palmer.  
Page 49 of 69



 
Staff finding:  
 

a) This property is adjacent to two main roads, East Arctic Avenue and South Denali Street, and 
would be adequate to meet any increased traffic demand in the area.  Public facilities such 
as schools and utilities would have little to no impact to the potential rezone, and are able to 
support the proposed change since there are several other compatible General Commercial 
uses in the surrounding area.   
 

Fact 4) Changed conditions affecting the subject parcel or the surrounding neighborhood support 
the proposed change; 

 
Applicant’s response:  

I’d say it does.  We are adding more visibility to the intersection of S Denali St and E Arctic Ave.  
The new building to be built is about medium way in on our property.  Our services support Palmer 
community.   

 
Staff finds: 
 

a) The proposed rezone request would match the zoning of the surrounding area of this 
property.  Direct access onto S. Denali St from E. Arctic Avenue supports the flow of traffic 
onto the parcel and would be compatible with the surrounding commercially zoned 
properties in the area.    

 

Fact 5) The proposed change is consistent with the public welfare and does not grant a special 
privilege to the owner(s). 

 
Applicant’s response:  

The proposed change is consistent with the needs of the public welfare and no special privileges to 
the Palmer Food Bank, other than the needed expansion of building space in order to provide for the 
needs of the people.   

  
Staff finds;  
 

a) The proposed change does not grant the owner any special privilege as the property in 
question is contiguous to existing residential zoning and commercial development.   
 

b) The proposed change is consistent with the public welfare by permitting the future use of 
this property to be developed for commercial activity for the benefit of Palmer residents and 
visitors.   

 
PART III.  STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Based on the information provided by the applicant and comments received from the public, staff 
recommends approval of the requested rezone.  Staff also finds the request to rezone Lot 7, Block 6, 
Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision from R-4, High Density Residential to CG-General Commercial, is 
consistent with, and in conformance with the Palmer Comprehensive Plan. 
 
If following the Public Hearing, Commission finds that the applicant’s proposal conforms to the Palmer 
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Code provisions, then staff recommends that the Commission 
approve this request for rezoning Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision from R-4, High 
Density Residential to CG-General Commercial and forward a recommendation for approval to the City 
Council. 

Page 50 of 69



City Clerk 

Phone: (907) 761-1301 
Fax: (907) 761-1340 

Email: cityclerk@palmerak.org 

231 W. Evergreen Ave. 
Palmer, Alaska 99645-6952 

www.palmerak.org 

September 9, 2021 

Dear Property Owner: 

During the September 28, 2021 Regular Palmer City Council Meeting, the Palmer City 
Council will hold a public hearing on Ordinance No. 21-016: Amending the Zoning Map to 
Revise the Zoning Designation of Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision, 
from R-4, High Density Residential to CG-General Commercial. 

The purpose of the public hearing is to receive testimony on the proposed rezoning of 
the above tax parcel from its present High Density Residential (R-4) to CG-General 
Commercial. The area in question is shown on the accompanying map. 

A public hearing will be held on September 28, 2021. The meeting will start at 7:00 
p.m. in the City Council Chambers located at 231 W. Evergreen Avenue, Palmer,
Alaska.

If you wish to comment on this issue, you may do so by attending the public hearing or 
by providing written comment to the City Council no later than September 17, 2021, 
at 5:00 p.m. Written comments may be mailed to the attention of the City Clerk at the 
address above, dropped off at City Hall, or emailed to cityclerk@palmerak.org. If you 
have any questions regarding the council meeting process, please call 761-1301. If you 
have any   questions regarding the rezone, please call 761-1322. 

Sincerely, 

Deputy City Clerk 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
For the following reason, I am

o In favor of (proponent)

o NOT in favor of (opponent)
o Have no objections to

the proposed rezoning Ordinance No. 21-016. I would also like to provide additional 
comments below: 

NAME: 

ADDRESS: 

Page 51 of 69

mailto:cityclerk@palmerak.org
http://www.palmerak.org/
mailto:cityclerk@palmerak.org


Request for Rezone from R-4, High Density Residential District to CG - General Commercial District, for Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-
Newcomb #2 Subdivision located at 404 E. Arctic Avenue, in Palmer, Alaska.

P
age 52 of 69

ndegner
Line

ndegner
Line

ndegner
Line

ndegner
Line

ndegner
Line

ndegner
Callout
404 E. Arctic AveLot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision 

ndegner
Rectangle



August 2, 2021 

Dear Property Owner: 

Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission will consider a Zoning Map Amendment Application for Lot 7, 
Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision initiated by the Palmer Food Bank.  The property is 
located at 404 E. Arctic Avenue, Palmer, Alaska.   

The property is zoned R-4, High Density Residential.  The request is to rezone the property to General 
Commercial District (C-G).  The map on the reverse side of this notice indicates the location of the 
subject property.  For additional information on the General Commercial District, please refer to 
Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 17.32 General Commercial District, located online at: 
www.palmerak.org.  

The Commission will hold a Public Hearing to consider this application and allow an opportunity for 
public comments.  The meeting will be held on August 19, 2021, at 7:00 p.m., in the City Council 
Chambers located at 231 West Evergreen Avenue, Palmer, Alaska. 

If you wish to comment on this issue, you may do so by attending the public hearing or by providing 
written comments to the Planning and Zoning Commission by August 11, 2021.  Written comments 
may be mailed to Department of Community Development, 645 E. Cope Industrial Way, Palmer, 
Alaska, faxed to 907-745-5443 or emailed to me at: ndegner@palmerak.org. 

Sincerely, 

Nichole Degner, Community Development Specialist 

For the following reason, I am (please circle) in favor of,  NOT in favor of,  have no objection to 
the issuance of the proposed re-zone from R-4 to CG – General Commercial. 

Name: 

Address: 

 DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

Brad Hanson 
Director 

Dusten Voehl 
 Building Inspector 

Beth Skow 
Library Director 

Mail: 231 W. Evergreen Ave. 
 Location: 645 E. Cope Industrial Way 

Palmer, AK  99645-6748 
Phone:  907-745-3709 

Fax:  907-745-5443 
www.palmerak.org  

Page 53 of 69

http://www.palmerak.org/


I® [E rm [E 
D \Yl [E rm

� SEP 1 6 2020 ll)
By J� 

V 
September 9, 2021 

Dear Property Owner: 

City Clerk 

Phone: (907) 761-1301 
Fax: (907) 761-1340 

Email: cityclerk@palmerak.org 

231 W. Evergreen Ave. 
Palmer, Alaska 99645-6952 

www.palmerak.org 

During the September 28, 2021 Regular Palmer City Council Meeting, the Palmer City 
Council will hold a public hearing on Ordinance No. 21-016: Amending the Zoning Map to 
Revise the Zoning Designation of Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision, 
from R-4, High Density Residential to CG-General Commercial. 

The purpose of the public hearing is to receive testimony on the proposed rezoning of 
the above tax parcel from its present High Density Residential (R-4) to CG-General 
Commercial. The area in question is shown on the accompanying map. 

A public hearing will be held on September 28, 2021. The meeting will start at 7:00 
p.m. in the City Council Chambers located at 231 W. Evergreen Avenue, Palmer,
Alaska.

If you wish to comment on this issue, you may do so by attending the public hearing or 
by providing written comment to the City Council no later than September 17, 2021, 
at 5:00 p.m. Written comments may be mailed to the attention of the City Clerk at the 
address above, dropped off at City Hall, or emailed to cityclerk@palmerak.org. If you 
have any questions regarding the council meeting process, please call 761-1301. If you 
have any questions regarding the rezone, please call 761-1322. 

Sincerely, 

Deputy City Clerk 

For the following reason, I am 
y In favor of (proponent) 
o NOT in favor of ( opponent)
o Have no objectiqns to

the proposed rezoning Ordinance No. 21-016. I would also like to provide additional 
comments below: 

Page 54 of 69



Page 55 of 69



September 9, 2021 

Dear Property Owner: 

r� [E ® [E o w fE rm 
w SEP l 7 1020 �

' 
By ,ts 

V 

City Clerk 

Phone: (907) 761-1301 
Fax: (907) 761-1340 

Email: cityc1er1<@palmerak.org 

231 W. Evergreen Ave. 
Palmer. Alaska 99645-6952 

www.palmerak.org 

During the September 28, 2021 Regular Palmer City Council Meeting, the Palmer City 
Council will hold a public hearing on Ordinance No. 21-016: Amending the Zoning Map to 
Revise the Zoning Designation of Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision, 
from R-4, High Density Residential to CG-General Commercial. 

The purpose of the public hearing is to receive testimony on the proposed rezoning of 
the above tax parcel from its present High Density Residential (R-4) to CG-General 
Commercial. The area in question is shown on the accompanying map. 

A public hearing will be held on September 28, 2021. The meeting will start at 7:00 
p.m. in the City Council Chambers located at 231 W. Evergreen Avenue, Palmer,
Alaska.

If you wish to comment on this issue, you may do so by attending the public hearing or 
by providing written comment to the City Council no later than September 17, 2021, 
at 5:00 p.m. Written comments may be mailed to the attention of the City Clerk at the 
address above, dropped off at City Hall, or emailed to cityclerk@palmerak.org. If you 
have any questions regarding the council meeting process, please call 761-1301. If you 
have any questions regarding the rezone, please call 761-1322. 

Sincerely, 

l �) 

Deputy City Clerk 

eason, I am 
• v f roponen
o NOT in favor of opponent)
o Have no objections to

the proposed rezoning Ordinance No. 21-016. I would also like to provide additional 
comments below: '

O ' J\ C,hC\h.�( J I I rl t�t fl �(<- ht'\ ff�) 
1 

fir 

NAME:_lrJ_�_J�,t,,�,Sl�h�i\�h_t'(,,_(-,-P_r_t_c,_·J,_·✓-"'____._E ........ r:�r1_,_,._ t�- ·�,�-"--+-/ ____ _

ADDRESS: --t/
....,,.
3'-='tl_:\_._______.,_L_• -P�v::...._""-_I\.::....,_( ..:._; --=5t---''--------

Page 56 of 69



September 9, 2021 

Dear Property Owner: 

SEP 1 3 

By 

City Clerk 

Phone: (907) 761-1301 
Fax: (907) 761-1340 

Email: cityclerk@palmerak.org 

231 W. Evergreen Ave. 
Palmer, Alaska 99645-6952 

www palmerak.org 

During the September 28, 2021 Regular Palmer City Council Meeting, the Palmer City 
Council will hold a public hearing on Ordinance No. 21-016: Amending the Zoning Map to 
Revise the Zoning Designation of Lot 7, Block 6, Snodgrass-Newcomb #2 Subdivision, 
from R-4, High Density Residential to CG-General Commercial. 

The purpose of the public hearing is to receive testimony on the proposed rezoning of 
the above tax parcel from its present High Density Residential (R-4) to CG-General 
Commercial. The area in question is shown on the accompanying map. 

A public hearing will be held on September 28, 2021. The meeting will start at 7:00 
p.m. in the City Council Chambers located at 231 W. Evergreen Avenue, Palmer,
Alaska.

If you wish to comment on this issue, you may do so by attending the public hearing or 
by providing written comment to the City Council no later than September 17, 2021, 
at 5:00 p.m. Written comments may be mailed to the attention of the City Clerk at the 
address above, dropped off at City Hall, or emailed to cityclerk@palmerak.org. If you 
have any questions regarding the council meeting process, please call 761-1301. If you 
have any questions regarding the rezone, please call 761-1322. 

Sincerely, 

J 
Deputy City Clerk 

For the following reason, I am 
o In favor of (proponent)
o NOT in favor of ( opponent)

rf..-. Have no objections to
the proposed rezoning Ordinance No. 21-016. I would also like to provide additional 
comments below: 

Page 57 of 69



Page 58 of 69



Page 59 of 69



Page 60 of 69



Page 61 of 69



    

      
     City of Palmer 

Planning & Zoning Commission 
Rezoning Action 

Findings of Fact Worksheet 
 
 
1. The proposed change is in accordance with the borough and city 

comprehensive plans; 
 

Melin Combs Shelton Bernier Jackson Tudor Peterson 
Y Y Y Excused  Y Y Excused  

 
2. The proposed change is compatible with surrounding zoning districts and 

the established land use pattern; 
 

Melin Combs Shelton Bernier Jackson Tudor Peterson 
Y Y Y Excused Y Y Excused 

 
3. Public facilities such as schools, utilities and streets are adequate to support 

the proposed change; 
 

Melin Combs Shelton Bernier Jackson Tudor Peterson 
Y Y Y Excused Y Y Excused 

 
4. Changed conditions affecting the subject parcel or the surrounding 

neighborhood support the proposed change; 
 

Melin Combs Shelton Bernier Jackson Tudor Peterson 
Y Y Y Excused Y Y Excused 

 
5. The proposed change is consistent with the public welfare and does not 

grant a special privilege to the owner (s). 
 

Melin Combs Shelton Bernier Jackson Tudor Peterson 
Y Y Y Excused Y Y Excused 

 
* Planning & Zoning Meeting of August 19, 2021 – Palmer Food Bank Rezone Facts & 
Findings  

Page 62 of 69



Page 63 of 69



Page 64 of 69



Page 65 of 69



Page 66 of 69



Page 67 of 69



Page 68 of 69



Page 69 of 69


	Agenda
	Action Memorandum 21-053 Eagle View Excavation Snow Haul Services
	Action Memorandum 21-054 White Knight Snow Removal Ext #2
	Action Memorandum 21-055 Requesting City Clerk Hand Count Election
	Council Minutes Special 2021-0824
	Council Minutes 2021-0824
	Ordinance No. 21-016 Rezone for 404 E. Arctic Ave



